
 

 
 

 

 
 

Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Thursday 7 October 2021 at 6.00 pm 
Conference Hall - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 
Please note this meeting will be held as a socially distanced physical meeting with all 
members of the Committee asked to attend in person. 
 
Should any member of the Committee be unable to attend in person please contact 
the meeting administrator (as listed below) so alternative arrangements can be 
made. Please note that if unable to attend in person it will not be possible for that 
member to be counted as present for the purposes of quorum or to participate in the 
voting on any item that may be required during the meeting. 
 
Guidance on the safe delivery of face-to-face meetings is included at the end of the 
agenda frontsheet. 
 
Due to current socially distanced venue capacity, any press and public 
wishing to attend this meeting are encouraged to do so via the live webcast.  
 
The link to view the meeting will be made available here: https://brent.public-
i.tv/core/portal/home  

 
Membership: 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
 

Ketan Sheth (Chair) 
Colwill (Vice-Chair) 
Aden 
Daly 
Afzal 
Ethapemi 
Hector 
Lloyd 
Sangani 
Shahzad 
Thakkar 

S Choudhary, Conneely, Hassan, Hylton, Johnson, 
Kabir, Long, Miller and Shah 
 
Councillors: 
 

Kansagra and Maurice  

Public Document Pack

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 
Co-opted Members 
Helen Askwith, Church of England Schools 
Simon Goulden, Jewish Faith Schools 
Dinah Walker, Parent Governor Representative 
Alloysius Frederick, Roman Catholic Diocese Schools 
Sayed Jaffar Milani, Muslim Faith Schools 
 
Observers 
Jenny Cooper, NEU and Special School observer 
John Roche, NEU and Secondary School Observer 
Vacancy, NEU Primary School Observer 
 
 

For further information contact: Hannah O'Brien, Governance Officer 
hannah.o'brien@brent.gov.uk 

 

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 

 



 

3 
 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, they 
must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent and 
must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must declare its 
existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public interest and 
either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after disclosing the 
interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the 
item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in carrying 

out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 

their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least £50 as 
a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or 
financial position of: 

 You yourself; 
a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close association or 
any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal interest 
 



 

4 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  
 

 

2 Declarations of interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary or personal interests 
in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they relate. 
 

 

3 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

 To hear any deputations received from members of the public in 
accordance with Standing Order 67.  
 

 

4 Matters arising (if any)  
 

 

5 Implications for BHM and HRA of proposals for ownership and 
refurbishment of Granville New Homes blocks  
 
To provide the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee with an 
update on the options analysis that First Wave Housing (FWH) has 
carried out with the Company’s Guarantor on finding a viable option to 
fund and deliver the required remediation works at Granville New Homes, 
prior to this being considered by Cabinet on 11 October 2021. 

 

1 - 24 

6 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Head of Executive and Member Services or her representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 60. 
 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  Monday 15 November 2021 
 



 

5 
 

 

Guidance on the delivery of safe meetings at The Drum, Brent Civic Centre 

 We have revised the capacity and floor plans for event spaces to ensure 
they are COVID-19 compliant and meet the social distancing guidelines. 

 Attendees will need to maintain the necessary social distancing at all times. 

 Signage and reminders, including floor markers for social distancing and 
one-way flow systems are present throughout The Drum and need to be 
followed. 

 Please note the Civic Centre visitor lifts will have reduced capacity to help 
with social distancing. 

 The use of face coverings is encouraged with hand sanitiser dispensers 
located at the main entrance to The Drum and within each meeting room. 

 Those attending meetings are asked to scan the coronavirus NHS QR Code 
for The Drum upon entry. Posters of the QR Code are located in front of the 
main Drum entrance and outside each boardroom. 

 Although not required, should anyone attending wish to undertake a lateral 
flow test (LFT) in advance of the meeting these are also available at the 
Civic Centre and can be booked via the following link: 
https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-community/coronavirus/covid-19-testing/if-
you-dont-have-symptoms/  

https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-community/coronavirus/covid-19-testing/if-you-dont-have-symptoms/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-community/coronavirus/covid-19-testing/if-you-dont-have-symptoms/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Community and Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee 

Implications for BHM and HRA of proposals for ownership 
and refurbishment of Granville New Homes blocks 

 

No. of Appendices: Appendix 1 – Cabinet Report 

Background Papers:  N/A 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Sadie East 
Operational Director of Transformation   
Sadie.East@brent.gov.uk 

 
1.0 Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1  This report provides the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee with 

an update on the options analysis that First Wave Housing (FWH) has carried 
out with the Company’s Guarantor, Brent Council, on finding a viable option to 
fund and deliver the required remediation works at Granville New Homes. 

 
1.2  Audit and Standards Advisory Committee (ASAC) considered a regular 

update on FWH at its meeting on 22nd September 2021, and ASAC 
recommended that the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 
consider and comment on the implications for BHM and the HRA of the 
recommended disposal option.  

 
1.3  It is recommended that the 84 social rented units are disposed of to the 

Council and the 25 intermediate rented units are disposed of to i4B Holdings 
Ltd (i4B). While there are no cost free options available, the Council 
recommends this option as the one that best ensures that works are carried 
out as quickly as possible and is most financially beneficial to the Council 
group as a whole.   
 

1.4   The report provides the Committee with a copy of the Cabinet report in 
appendix 1. The Cabinet report provides further background to the works 
required at Granville, the options considered and the reasons for the option 
above being recommended.  

 
1.5  The report will be presented to Cabinet on 11 October. Any comments from 

the Committee will be circulated prior to the Cabinet meeting.  
  
2.0 Recommendations  
 
2.1 The Committee notes the report and the Cabinet report in appendix 1.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Sadie.East@brent.gov.uk


 
2.2 The Committee considers the implications for BHM and the HRA of the 

disposal of the 84 social rented units to the HRA and the 25 intermediate 
rented units to i4B.   

 
3.0  Background 
 
3.1  FWH is one of the Council’s wholly owned housing companies. It is a 

registered provider with 326 properties. Of FWH’s 326 properties, 110 are 
located at Granville New Homes. These 110 properties comprise of 84 social 
rented properties, 25 intermediate rented properties, and one leaseholder. 

 
3.2  Granville New Homes is a residential development that completed in 2009. It 

was developed by the Council and Higgins. The Council’s ALMO, Brent 
Housing Partnership (BHP), purchased the properties at a cost of £17.1m. 
This figure met the Council’s development costs and was funded via a loan 
from the Council. BHP also received 45 one bedroom market rented 
properties in order to cross subsidise the acquisition, as on its own, the 
purchase of Granville New Homes would not have been viable for BHP. Since 
2009, the properties have been managed as part of BHP/now FWH’s portfolio. 

 
3.3  FWH commissioned a report from Ridge Consultants to investigate water 

penetration, cladding, fire safety and window issues at FWH’s Granville, 
Princess, and Canterbury blocks (otherwise known as Granville New Homes). 
Ridge have recommended that works be carried out at the blocks to 
remediate these issues. It is estimated that the cost of works will be £18.5m. 

 
3.4  Officers have been working to review options to fund and deliver the works 

required at Granville New Homes. The review has determined that ultimately, 
there are no cost free options available to the Council. Therefore, options 
were reviewed against the following criteria: 

 

 Putting the properties back into a good state of repair as quickly as possible; 

 Causing the least disruption to residents; 

 Allocating the risks of a major refurbishment programme to where they can 
best be managed; and 

 Utilising the structures of the HRA, General Fund, FWH and i4B in a way that 
is most financially beneficial/least costly to Brent overall. 

 
3.5  A Guarantor meeting was held with the Brent Chief Executive and Director of 

Finance on 23rd August 2021 to review the options. The Guarantor’s preferred 
option was to dispose of the blocks to the HRA. This option balances the cost 
between FWH, i4B, the Council’s General Fund, and the HRA. It also offers 
the minimum disruption to residents in the blocks by offering the most rapid 
solution to addressing the remediation works required. 

 
3.6  The option is also less costly. This is because the FWH business plan is 

required to make debt principal repayments, whereas the HRA opts for 
interest only. In addition to this the HRA is able to reclaim VAT; therefore, cost 
of repair is 20% less compared to FWH. 

 
3.7  At the meeting, the Guarantor requested that further work be carried out to 

investigate whether there was a mechanism for retaining the 25 intermediate 

Page 2



rented properties outside the HRA. Tenants of intermediate rented properties 
are market tenants sourced via external agents, rather than traditional social 
housing clients. Intermediate tenants have no specific housing need. If the 
properties transferred to the HRA, their rents would have to drop to 65% of 
market rate. It is therefore recommended that these properties are transferred 
to i4B, where rent levels would remain the same.  

 
3.8  A FWH performance update was presented to ASAC on 22nd September 

2021. At the meeting, ASAC requested that the Community and Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee review and comment on the recommended option from 
the perspective of BHM and the HRA. 

 
4.0  Recommended Option and Implications for the HRA  
 
4.1  The Cabinet Report in appendix 1 is the latest version of the proposal.  
 
4.2  The report recommends that FWH to dispose of its 84 social housing units the 

HRA and to transfer the 25 intermediate units to i4B.  
 
4.3  Transfer of the 84 social rent properties to the HRA would be at nil value, on 

the basis that the capital investment required of £11.2m (the HRA’s share of 
remediation cost) is greater in comparison to the net book value of the 
properties (£12.5m).  

 
4.4  The HRA share of the remediation cost can be part funded through useable 

capital receipts of £4m, with the remaining balance of £7.2m funded through 
borrowing.  Annual interest cost is estimated to be £0.2m at 2.1% PWLB rates 
in July 2021. 

 
4.5  This option is more beneficial as it improves the financial position of the HRA 

by reducing the capital investment requirement by £3.5m. It also allows the 
rents for the intermediate units to be retained at a higher rental level within 
i4B.  

 
4.6  The 84 social rent properties are estimated to generate income of £0.5m per 

annum for the HRA. Based on average cost in the HRA for stock 
maintenance, there is a projected break-even position. However, cost 
projections do not allow for debt principal repayments over the next 60 years.  

 
4.7  Brent Housing Management already manage the properties via the Service 

Level Agreement with FWH; therefore, the housing management function will 
be managed within existing staffing resources 

 
4.8  External legal and tax advice has been obtained. This confirms that the option 

is technically viable.  
 
5.0  Next Steps 
 
5.1  The Cabinet report is currently going through the approval process. 

Comments from the Committee will be circulated prior to the Cabinet meeting. 
The Cabinet report requests authority to go out to consult with residents on 
the proposals. This follows best practice guidance from the Regulator of 

Page 3



Social Housing that RPs should consult with residents on any proposed 
change in landlord. 

 
5.2 Following Cabinet approval, FWH will begin the consultation process with 

residents on the potential disposal of the Granville New Homes properties. 
This will likely last one month. 

 
5.3 Subject to the outcomes of the consultation with residents, a final decision on 

the disposal of Granville New Homes will be agreed by the Strategic Director 
of Community Wellbeing in consultation with the Director of Finance and the 
Lead Member (the Deputy Leader). 

 

Page 4



 
 

 

 
Cabinet 

11th October 2021 
  

Report from the Chief Executive 

Proposal for ownership and refurbishment of Granville New 
Homes blocks 

 

Wards Affected:  Kilburn 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Key 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Appendix A – Cashflow implications of options 
Appendix B –Exempt – Additional Legal Implications; 
Exempt pursuant to paragraph 5 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972: Information in respect 
of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

No. of Appendices: N/A 

Background Papers:  N/A 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Adam Barrett, Senior Finance Analyst, 

Adam.Barrett@brent.gov.uk 

 

Ralph Gibson, Strategy Delivery Manager, 
Ralph.Gibson@brent.gov.uk 

 
1.0 Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1  First Wave Housing (FWH) has commissioned a report from Ridge Consultants 

to investigate water penetration, cladding, fire safety and window issues at 
FWH’s Granville Road, Princess Road, and Canterbury Road blocks (otherwise 
known as Granville New Homes). Ridge have recommended that works be 
carried out at the blocks to remediate these issues. It is estimated that the cost 
of works will be £18.5m. This makes the FWH business plan unviable. 

 
1.2  Within these constraints, a report was presented at FWH’s biannual Guarantor 

meeting, detailing the possible options for funding and carrying out these 
remedial works. The report recommended disposing of the blocks to the 
Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  

 
1.3  Following the Guarantor meeting, the Guarantor asked FWH to investigate 

options around how FWH could structure its debt, primarily whether it retains 
the debt for the blocks at a new interest rate of 2%. The Guarantor also 
requested that FWH explore options for protecting the revenue flows of FWH’s 
intermediate rented properties. Further information on this is in section six of 
this report. 

Page 5

mailto:Adam.Barrett@brent.gov.uk
mailto:Ralph.Gibson@brent.gov.uk


 
1.4  The report also presents options for transferring FWH’s properties to the HRA 

including how FWH structures its future debt, and whether the intermediate 
rented properties at the blocks are transferred to the HRA or i4B, for Cabinet to 
review. It is recommended that subject to consultation with residents at 
Granville New Homes, the 84 social rent properties are transferred to the HRA, 
and the leasehold interest of the 25 intermediate rent properties is transferred 
to i4B, with the freehold interest of the entire blocks being transferred to the 
HRA. This is recommended as the best option to balance costs between the 
Council’s General Fund, HRA and housing companies and ensure the works 
are carried out as rapidly as possible.  

 
1.5  Audit and Standards Advisory Committee (ASAC) considered a regular update 

on FWH at its meeting on 22nd September 2021, and ASAC recommended that 
the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee consider and comment on 
the implications for BHM and the HRA of the recommended disposal option. 
The Committee will meet on 7 October, and any comments and 
recommendations will be circulated in advance of the 11 October Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
1.6  Finally, as per guidance from the Regulator of Social Housing, First Wave 

Housing will be expected to consult with residents prior to disposing of its 
ownership of the properties to another landlord. Therefore, this report seeks 
Cabinet’s approval to begin a consultation with residents on the potential 
disposal of the block to the HRA. Subject to the outcomes of this consultation, 
this report asks Cabinet to delegate authority to the Strategic Director of 
Community Wellbeing for a final decision regarding the disposal of the 
properties.  

 
2.0 Recommendation(s)  
 
2.1  Cabinet note the options analysis and agree that disposing of the blocks at 

Granville New Homes to the HRA is the best option, subject to a consultation 
with residents being carried out. 

 
2.2  Cabinet give approval to commence a consultation with residents on the 

proposed option 1C as set out in sections 5 and 6 of this report. 
 
2.3  Cabinet delegate authority to the Strategic Director of Community Wellbeing in 

consultation with the Director of Finance and the Lead Member (the Deputy 
Leader) for a final decision regarding the disposal of the properties, subject to 
the outcomes of the consultation with residents.  

 
2.4  Cabinet delegate authority to the Director of Finance to renegotiate the terms 

and payment of the loan between Brent Council and FWH.  
 

3.0 Background 
 
3.1 FWH is one of the Council’s wholly owned housing companies. It is a registered 

provider with 326 properties. A breakdown of these properties is below: 
 
 Table 1 – Breakdown of FWH portfolio 
 

Rent Type Number Annual rent Comment 

Page 6



Intermediate 25 £379,684 

All intermediate units are at Granville New Homes. Let 
on assured short hold tenancies (ASTs). Rents are let 
via external estate agent with intention that reduced 
rents allow families to save for a deposit. 

Market 45 £709,147 
Let at market rates on ASTs. Located across the 
borough. 

Settled Homes 167 £2,612,876 
Purchased through grant funding, let as a form of TA. 
Let on ASTs. Rents reduce to affordable rates over time. 

Social 89 £603,879 

Let at social rent levels. 84 units are at Granville New 
Homes. Large amount of tenants were ex-Council 
tenants, with secure tenancy rights. 

Total 326 £4,305,585  

 
3.2 Of FWH’s 326 properties, 110 are located at Granville New Homes. These 110 

properties comprise of 84 social rented properties, 25 intermediate rented 
properties, and one leaseholder.  

 
3.3 Granville New Homes is a residential development that completed in 2009. It 

was developed by the Council and Higgins. In 2007, the Council selected Hyde 
Housing as their preferred partner to purchase the properties. However, due to 
economic downturn in 2008, Hyde reduced their initial offer for the blocks. This 
was not acceptable to the Council as the revised offer did not cover the 
Council’s development costs.  

 
3.4 The Council, therefore, looked at alternative options. Retaining Granville New 

Homes within Council ownership was not deemed viable. As a result, the 
Council’s arm’s length management organisation (ALMO), Brent Housing 
Partnership (BHP), purchased the properties at a cost of £17.1m. This figure 
met the Council’s development costs and was funded via a loan from the 
Council. BHP also received 45 one bedroom market rented properties in order 
to cross subsidise the acquisition, as on its own, the purchase of Granville New 
Homes would not have been viable for BHP. Since 2009, the properties have 
been managed as part of BHP, now FWH’s portfolio.  

 
3.5 At the December 2020 Guarantor meeting, the Guarantor was made aware of 

potential defects at Granville New Homes relating to fire safety and water 
ingress. Currently, a waking watch service has been put in place at the blocks 
and a communal fire alarm is being installed.  

 
3.6 Since December 2020, investigations have taken place into these issues. At the 

June 2021 FWH Board meeting, the Housing Property Services team presented 
the results of fire risk assessments and intrusive investigations into fire safety 
concerns. Ridge Consultants also presented the results of intrusive 
investigation into the water penetration, cladding and window issues at the 
blocks. 

 
3.7 In summary, the investigations determined that the blocks suffer from poor 

quality design, construction and workmanship going back to the original 
construction. Water ingress is an issue at various locations in the blocks and 
the blocks do not comply with current fire safety building regulations. The report 
found the concrete core of the building was structurally sound and that the most 
effective solution would be to refurbish the blocks. 

 
3.8 The Ridge report stated that the issues identified are not easily repairable in a 

way which will offer a guaranteed and satisfactory solution. On this basis, the 

Page 7



only available option is to replace the facades, roof coverings and balcony 
waterproofing systems. These works include:  

 

 Removing and replacing all cladding (both cementitious and brick effect panel) 
with non-combustible A1 or A2 fire rated materials; 

 Stripping external façades and removing all external doors and windows; 

 Providing new external doors and windows within a new panelised cladding 
system;  

 Replacing insulation; and  

 Stripping roofs and providing new roof coverings. 
 
3.9 Including consultancy services, the waking-watch, the fire alarm system and 

contingency allowances, the estimated total cost of remediation works is circa 
£18.5m (including VAT). This figure includes £2m of contingency costs. If the 
remediation is carried out as outlined, the estimated completion date is 
September 2023. At present these costs are not affordable for FWH. It should 
be noted that the £18.5m is an estimated value from Ridge; until works are 
tendered and completed the actual cost will not be known.  

 
3.10 The Guarantor and FWH Board requested that officers explore options for 

funding the works. An options analysis was presented to the Guarantor on 23 
August 2021 and it was agreed that the recommended approach is for FWH to 
transfer the units at Granville New Homes to the Council’s Housing Revenue 
Account, subject to further work being undertaken on the details of the transfer. 

 
4.0 Summary of Discounted Options 
 
4.1 The following section presents a list of the discounted options. In summary, 

there are no cost free options available to the Council. Therefore, options were 
reviewed against the following criteria:  
 

 Putting the properties back into a good state of repair as quickly as possible; 

 Causing the least disruption to residents; 

 Allocating the risks of a major refurbishment programme to where they can best 
be managed; and 

 Utilising the structures of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), General Fund, 
FWH and i4B in a way that is most financially beneficial to Brent Council overall.  

 
4.2  A summary of the discounted options is below.  
 
Option Comment Reason for exclusion 

Rebuild at higher 
density 

The blocks would be demolished and 
rebuilt at a higher density to offset 
demolition and rebuilt costs.   

Not possible at sufficient scale to be 
affordable due to planning constraints, 
and would require temporary decanting of 
residents.   

Market sale The blocks would be sold on the open 
market. This would require vacant 
possession and therefore require 
residents to be permanently re-housed. 

Would require permanent decanting of 
residents and would not be an option that 
could be implemented rapidly due to the 
decant process. 

Transfer to the 
General Fund 

Under this option, the blocks would be 
disposed of to the General Fund. 

The General Fund cannot operate 
permanent tenanted accommodation (at 
least not without the consent of the 
Secretary of State); therefore a full 
permanent decant would be required.  

Page 8



Disposal to i4B The blocks would be disposed of to i4B. 
i4B would carry out remediation works to 
the block. 

i4B cannot afford remediation works. 
Therefore, this option would require 
£18.5m equity funding from the General 
Fund. 

Disposal of all FWH 
stock to the HRA 
and wind up of 
FWH 

Under this option, all of FWH’s 326 
properties would be transferred to the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 

This option has not been excluded but is 
not recommended at this stage as it would 
delay rectifying the issues in the blocks. 
The transaction would be highly complex 
and would require specialist advice and a 
full audit on a final set of company 
accounts. This option could still be 
pursued at a later date. 

 
 
5.0 Recommended Option – Disposal of the blocks to the HRA 
 
5.1 The recommended option is for FWH to dispose of the blocks to the HRA and 

for the HRA to carry out remediation works as recommended in the Ridge 
report. There are nuances to this option in regards to how the transaction would 
be structured. These are detailed in section 6. However, broadly, under this 
option: 

 

 The transfer occurs at zero value as the blocks’ asset valuation of £12.5m is 
offset by the £15.4m of works required to the asset (the figure excludes VAT as 
this is reclaimable by the Council). The HRA as part of the Council will come 
within the scope of public law principles. Therefore, it cannot act unlawfully or 
irrationally. Therefore, the HRA cannot pay a sum for the blocks. 

 The HRA carries out the remediation works.  

 The 84 social rented tenants would become secure Council tenants. 

 The 25 intermediate rented tenants would be transferred to i4B under the 
recommended option; the HRA will recharge i4B for its proportion of the works.  

 FWH’s loan for the blocks would be refinanced to a more affordable rate.  

 As the transfer will formally be valued at zero value by the valuer no capital 
gains or SDLT costs are anticipated. As the transaction is a commercial 
transaction to support the ability of FWH to trade as a going concern, any tax 
implications to the transfer are incidental and would be in accordance with 
General Anti avoidance Rules operated by HMRC. Tax advice from the 
Council’s tax advisors have confirmed this position.  
 

5.2 The following assumptions have also been made: 

 It is assumed the housing management function will be managed within existing 
staffing resources. There will be a reallocation of resource time and cost from 
FWH to the HRA to reflect the work associated with the transferred units. 

 Rent inflation at 1.5% in line with CPI+1 and cost inflation at 2% per annum in 
line with Bank of England target rates. 

 The cost assumptions in this report do not include estimates for decarbonisation 
works, as this is a known budget limitation across the sector. 

 Further major works at £2,000 per property assumed from year 8 of the HRA 
Business Plan.  

 
5.3 This option balances the cost between FWH, i4B, the Council’s General Fund 

and the HRA. It also offers the minimum disruption to residents in the blocks by 
offering the most rapid solution to addressing the remediation works required. 
Furthermore, it is acknowledged that this is a reasonable way to achieve 
appropriate levels of different types of housing tenure in the borough. 

Page 9



 
6.0 Summary of HRA Disposal Options 
 
6.1 Within the disposal of the blocks to the HRA option, there are different ways the 

transaction could be structured.  
 

Option Description 

1A Transfer 84 social housing units and write off associated debt of 
£9.1m 

1B Transfer 84 social housing units and refinance the debt 

1C  Transfer 84 social housing units to the HRA and 25 intermediate 
units to i4B and refinance the debt 

2A Transfer all 110 units and write off associated debt of £11.6m 

2B Transfer all 110 units and refinance the debt 

 
6.2 There are two primary issues for consideration: 

 What happens to FWH’s intermediate rented properties and whether they are 
retained by FWH (Options 1A and 1B), transferred to i4B (Option 1C) or 
transferred to the HRA (Options 2A and 2B); and 

 What happens to FWH’s loan i.e. whether it is written off (Options 1A and 2A) 
or refinanced at a reduced financing rate (Options 1B, 1C and 2B). 

 
6.3 The recommended option is Option 1C: for FWH to dispose of its freehold 

interest in the 84 social housing units (and the one leasehold property) to the 
Council’s HRA and to transfer its leasehold interest in the 25 intermediate units 
to i4B. Once the leasehold transfer of the intermediate rented properties to i4B 
has taken place, the freehold interest of the intermediate rented properties will 
be disposed to the Council’s HRA. Under this option the FWH business plan is 
still viable. It improves the financial position of the HRA by reducing the capital 
investment requirement by £3.5m and strengthens the i4B business plan by 
retaining units at a higher rental level. i4B in addition benefits from the capital 
works being carried out by the Council and recharged as a leasehold charge 
excluding VAT.  

 
6.4 This option also allows the rents for the 25 intermediate units to be kept at 

current levels, protecting this revenue stream and reducing the capital 
refurbishment and debt burden in the HRA. If transferred to the HRA, rents for 
these units would have to be reduced to social levels which reduces the 
financial capacity to fund the refurbishment works. The average weekly rent 
level for an intermediate rent property is £322.97; for a social rent property, this 
is £118.97. This is a difference of £10,608 per annum. Furthermore, as set out 
above, this option is a reasonable way to achieve appropriate levels of different 
types of housing tenure in the borough. 

 
6.5 Tenants of intermediate rented properties are market tenants sourced via 

external agents, rather than traditional social housing clients Intermediate 
tenants have no specific housing need. Therefore, they are able to afford rents 
within the private rented sector and are free to move. Transfer to the HRA would 
entitle these tenants to reduced rents, secure tenancies and RTB that, as 
intermediate or private tenants, they would not usually be entitled to.  

 

Page 10



6.6 External legal and tax advice has confirmed that Option 1C is technically viable. 
In addition, FWH and i4B have obtained their own legal advice regarding the 
preferred option as proposed in this report. 

 
7.0 Option 1A – FWH retain intermediate rented properties  
 
7.1 Under this option, the 84 social rented properties and one leaseholder would 

be disposed of to the HRA. FWH would retain the 25 intermediate rented 
properties. 

 
7.2 The following assumptions have been made: 
 

 The Council would write off £9.1m of debt. The remaining loan would be paid 
over 50 years at 3%. New borrowing for capital investment would be at 2% 
subject to future movements in PWLB rates. 

 The HRA incurs £11.2m of the estimated £14.6m refurbishment cost and FWH 
is recharged £3.4m. 

 This option would require the Secretary of State’s approval to grant a lease of 
the 25 intermediate rental units back to FWH. 

 
7.3 Implications for tenants 
 
7.3.1 The 84 social rented tenants at Granville New Homes would become secure 

council tenants. The leaseholder would become a Council leaseholder. Social 
rents remain the same.  

 
7.3.2 The 25 intermediate tenants would remain FWH tenants. Their rents would 

remain at current levels.  
 
7.4 Implications for FWH 
 
7.4.1 FWH benefits from increased rents on the intermediate rental units as well as 

a reduction in financing costs. There are no years where negative cashflows 
are incurred with this option (see Appendix A). 

 
7.4.2 FWH benefits from there being no VAT on its share of the works as they are 

charged as a service charge without VAT by the Council. 
 
7.4.3 The cashflow surplus over the 30 year life of the FWH business plan is £22.8m. 
 
7.5 Implications for the General Fund 
 
7.5.1 Under this option £9.1m of the loan to FWH will be written off against the general 

fund. This one off cost would need to be managed within the overall revenue 
budget for 2022/23.  There will be additional financial implications for loss of 
interest, however it is anticipated that this can be managed within the overall 
capital financing budget.  

 
7.6 Implications for the HRA 
 
7.6.1 The HRA operates with a break-even budget, with limited financial capacity to 

absorb cost pressures without identifying offsetting budget mitigations. The 
HRA currently faces competing pressures from investment requirements in its 
existing stock. 

Page 11



 
7.6.2 Transfer of 84 social rent properties to HRA is estimated at nil value, on the 

basis that the capital investment required of £11.2m (HRA share of remediation 
cost) is greater in comparison to the net book value of the properties. The 
remediation cost can be part funded through useable capital receipts of £4m, 
with the remaining balance of £7.2m funded through borrowing.  Annual interest 
cost is estimated to be £0.2m at 2.1% PWLB rates in July 2021. 

 
7.6.3 The 84 social rent properties are estimated to generate income of £0.5m per 

annum for the HRA. Based on the average cost in the HRA for stock 
maintenance, there is a projected break-even position. It is assumed housing 
management function will be managed within existing staffing resources. 

 
7.6.4 The HRA affordable rent policy for Brent is set at 65% of market rates. This 

means that intermediate rented properties would require rent reductions if they 
were to transfer to the HRA. The total estimated rental income to the HRA from 
the 25 intermediate properties after rent reductions would be £0.2m, which is 
£0.2m less when compared to FWH intermediate rent levels currently. 

 
7.6.5 Transferring to the HRA would allow Right to Buy (RTB) rights for secured 

tenants. Stock reductions from RTB sale receipts will need to be replaced with 
affordable homes within five years, or paid over to central government. 

 
8.0 Option 1B – FWH retain intermediate rented properties 
 
8.1 Under this option, the 84 social rented properties and one leaseholder would 

be disposed of to the HRA. FWH would retain the 25 intermediate rented 
properties. FWH would refinance its debt for the blocks to 2% over 50 years. 
The following assumptions have been made: 
 

 Debt for the blocks is retained by FWH but refinanced, with interest rate reduced 
from 3% to 2% over 50 years. 

 
8.2 Implications for tenants 
 
8.2.1 The 84 social rented tenants at Granville New Homes would become secure 

council tenants. The leaseholder have the Council as the freehold owner. Social 
rents remain the same.  

 
8.2.2 The 25 intermediate tenants would remain FWH tenants. Their rents would 

remain at current levels.  
 
8.3 Implications for FWH 
 
8.3.1  FWH benefits from increased rents on the intermediate rental units as well as 

a reduction in financing costs. There are no years where negative cashflows 
are incurred with this option (see Appendix A). 

 
8.3.2 FWH benefits from there being no VAT on its share of the works as they are 

charged as a service charge without VAT by the Council.                                            
 
8.3.3 The cashflow surplus over the 30 year life of the FWH business plan is £19.3m, 

indicating that refinancing is less beneficial than debt write off to FWH. Either 
way, the FWH business plan is still viable under both options. 

Page 12



 
8.4 Implications for the HRA 
 
8.4.1 Implications to the HRA are the same as for Option 1A.  
 
9.0 Option 2A - All 110 units are transferred to the HRA  
 
9.1 Under this option, the 110 units (including one leaseholder) would be disposed 

of to the HRA. The following assumptions are made for this option: 
 

 Debt of £11.6m would be written off. The residual existing loan would be 
refinanced over 50 years at 3%. New borrowing would be at 2% subject to 
fluctuations in PWLB rates. 

 The 84 social rented properties at Granville New Homes would continue to be 
let at existing rent levels. 

 Rents for the 25 intermediate rented properties would be reduced to HRA 
rents. This is in line with Brent affordable rent policy of 65% market rate. 

 FWH debt is retained by FWH, with interest rate reduced from 3% to 2% over 
50 years. 

 
9.2 Implications for tenants 
 
9.2.1 The 109 tenants at Granville New Homes would become secure council 

tenants, with one leaseholder having the Council as the freehold owner. 
Tenants would have the right to buy, and rents would be set in line with HRA 
rent setting policy of charging 65% of market rate.  

 
9.2.2 Rents for the 25 intermediate properties would need to reduce to be compliant 

with HRA rent setting policy. This would result in lower rental charges to 
tenants. 

 
9.3 Implications for FWH 
 
9.3.1 FWH benefits from a reduction in financing costs. There are no years where 

negative cashflows are incurred with this option (see Appendix A). 
 
9.3.2 There are no refurbishment costs to be incurred by FWH. 
 
9.3.3 FWH incurs greater loss of efficiency from economies of scale through the loss 

of the higher rent intermediate rental units.  
 
9.3.4 The cashflow surplus over the 30 year life of the FWH business plan is £20.7m 

indicating that refinancing is less beneficial than debt write off to FWH. 
 
9.4 Implications for the General Fund 
 
9.4.1 Under this option £11.6m of the loan to FWH will be written off against the 

general fund. This one off cost would need to be managed within the overall 
revenue budget for 2022/23.  There will be additional financial implications for 
loss of interest, however it is anticipated that this can be managed within the 
overall capital financing budget.  

 
9.5 Implications for the HRA 
 

Page 13



9.5.1 The HRA operates with a break-even budget, with limited financial capacity to 
absorb cost pressures without identifying offsetting budget mitigations. The 
HRA currently faces competing pressures from investment requirements in its 
existing stock. 

 
9.5.2 Transfer of all 110 properties to HRA is estimated at nil value, on the basis that 

the capital investment required of £14.6m (excluding VAT) is greater in 
comparison to the net book value of the properties. The remediation cost can 
be part funded through useable capital receipts of £4m, with the remaining 
balance of £10.6m funded through borrowing.  Annual interest cost is estimated 
to be £0.2m at 2.1% PWLB rates in July 2021. 

 
9.5.3 Transfer of rented properties is estimated to generate income of £0.8m per 

annum for the HRA, after adjusting for affordable rent at 65% of market. Based 
on average cost in the HRA for stock maintenance, there is a projected break-
even position. It is assumed housing management function will be managed 
within existing staffing resources. 

 
9.5.4 Transferring to HRA would allow Right to Buy (RTB) rights for secured tenants. 

Stock reductions from RTB sale receipts will need to be replaced with affordable 
homes within five years, or paid over to central government. 

 
10.0 Option 2B – All 110 units are transferred to the HRA  
 
10.1 Under this option, the 110 units (including one leaseholder) would be disposed 

of to the HRA. The following assumptions are made for this option: 

 Debt would be refinanced from 3% to 2%. New borrowing would be at 2% 
subject to fluctuations in PWLB rates. 

 The 84 social rented properties at Granville New Homes would continue to be 
let at existing rent levels. 

 Rents for the 25 intermediate rented properties would be reduced to HRA rents. 
This is in line with Brent affordable rent policy of 65% market rate. 

 FWH debt is retained by FWH, with interest rate reduced from 3% to 2% over 
50 years. 

 
10.2 Implications for tenants 
 
10.2.1 The 109 tenants at Granville New Homes would become secure council 

tenants, with one leaseholder. Tenants would have the right to buy and rents 
would be set in line with HRA rent setting policy of charging 65% of market 
rate. 

 
10.2.2 Rents for the 25 intermediate properties would need to reduce, resulting in 

lower rental charges to tenants. 
 
10.3 Implications for FWH 
 
10.3.1 FWH benefits from a reduction in financing costs.  
 
10.3.2 There are no refurbishment costs to be incurred by FWH. 
 
10.3.3 FWH incurs greater loss of efficiency from economies of scale through the loss 

of the higher rent intermediate rental units.  
 

Page 14



10.3.4 The cashflow surplus over the 30 year life of the FWH business plan is £15.7m 
indicating that refinancing is less beneficial than debt write off to FWH. This is 
the least beneficial option for FWH. 

 
10.4 Implications for the HRA 
 
10.4.1 Implications to the HRA are the same as for Option 2A.  
 
11.0 Option 1C – Intermediate units are transferred to i4B  
 
11.1 Under this option, the freehold interest of 84 social rented properties and one 

leasehold property would be disposed of to the HRA. The leasehold interest of 
the 25 intermediate rented properties would be transferred to i4B. FWH would 
refinance its debt for the blocks to 2% over 50 years. The following assumptions 
have been made: 
 

 Debt would be refinanced from 3% to 2%. New borrowing would be at 2% 
subject to fluctuations in PWLB rates. 

 The 84 social rented properties at Granville New Homes would continue to be 
let at existing rent levels. 

 The 25 intermediate units would be transferred to i4B at nil value. Rents for 
these properties would be kept at the same level.  

 The freehold for the blocks would be transferred to the HRA after the 
leasehold interest of the intermediate rented properties is disposed of to i4B, 
and the HRA would recharge i4B for its share of the remedial works, 
estimated at £3.6m. 

 FWH debt is retained by FWH, with interest rate reduced from 3% to 2% over 
50 years. 

 
11.2 Implications for tenants  
 
11.2.1 The 84 social rented tenants at Granville New Homes would become secure 

council tenants. The leaseholder would become a Council leaseholder. Tenants 
would have the right to buy, and rents would be set in line with HRA rent setting 
policy of charging 65% of market rate. 

 
11.2.2 The 25 intermediate tenants would become i4B tenants, with their ASTs 

transferring over. Under this option there would not be a need to reduce rents 
for these properties, which would be necessary with a transfer to the HRA. In 
addition, tenants would not receive the benefits of being a secure Council tenant 
such as secure tenancy rights and Right to Buy.  

 
11.3 Implications for FWH 
 
11.3.1 The implications for FWH are the same as for option 2B with a positive cashflow 

of £15.7m over the 30 year life of the business plan. This is the least beneficial 
outcome for FWH, however the overall business plan is still viable. 

 
11.4 Implications for i4B 
 
11.4.1 Detailed modelling of the i4B business plan has been undertaken. i4B would be 

acquiring units for £3.5m with an average rental of £324 per week. The average 
purchase price per unit is £140,000. This is within the affordability parameters 

Page 15



of the i4B purchase model and would allow i4B to benefit from economies of 
scale due to an increase in units under management.  

 
11.5 Implications for the HRA 
 
11.5.1 Implications to the HRA are the same as for Option 1A.  
 
12.0 Next Steps 
 
12.1 Following Cabinet approval, FWH will begin the consultation process with 

residents on the potential disposal of the Granville New Homes properties. 
 
12.2 Subject to the outcomes of the consultation with residents, a final decision on 

the disposal of Granville New Homes will be agreed by the Strategic Director 
of Community Wellbeing.  

 
13.0 Legal Implications 
 
13.1 First Wave Housing Limited is a company that is limited by guarantee and the 

company’s sole guarantor is Brent Council. First Wave Housing Limited owns a 
number of residential properties as a landlord in its own right and this remains 
the case after the Council’s housing management functions in relation to the 
Council’s housing stock were removed from Brent Housing Partnership and 
brought back in house. 

 
13.2 Local authorities can either grant secure tenancies or non-secure tenancies 

under one of the exceptions set out in Schedule 1 of the Housing Act 1985. 
Local authorities cannot be landlords of assured tenancies / tenants as local 
authorities are excluded from granting assured tenancies as set out in 
paragraph 12 of Schedule 1 of the Housing Act 1988).  

 
13.3 Properties in which there are secure tenancies in which the council is the 

landlord involves housing provided or acquired under Part II of the Housing Act 
1985 and such properties have to be held within the HRA pursuant to section 
74(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 unless the Secretary of 
State gives specific consent to hold such properties outside the HRA pursuant 
to section 74(3)(d) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

 
13.4 Under section 76 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Council 

has a duty to prevent a debit balance on its Housing Revenue Account. The 
Council currently has a self-financing settlement agreement with MHCLG 
regarding paying off its HRA debt as the Government no longer provides an 
annual subsidy towards the HRA. One would need to consider whether any 
proposals to transfer FWH’s properties to the Council’s HRA will have a 
significant effect on the self-financing agreement reached between the Council 
and MHCLG regarding payment of the Council’s HRA debt and how it would 
affect the current HRA Business Plan. The government removed the HRA 
borrowing cap on local authorities in October 2018 and borrowing in the HRA is 
now subject to the similar prudential guidelines as the General Fund. As set out 
in Part II of Schedule 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, capital 
expenditure in respect of houses or other properties within the HRA which 
involves capital expenditure for the year and which the local authority decide 
should be charged to a revenue account for the year, must be debited to the 
HRA.  

Page 16



 
13.5 All of FWH’s tenants are either assured tenants or assured shorthold tenants. 

However, none of FWH’s tenants are secure tenants. If the FWH properties 
disposed to another non local authority landlord like i4B, the FWH tenants would 
remain as assured tenants. If the FWH properties were disposed to the Council, 
the FWH tenants would become secure tenants. After such a transfer, the 
Council would be in a position to have the ability to consult on varying the 
tenancy terms and conditions under the procedure set out in section 103 of the 
Housing Act 1985. 

 
13.6 There is no statutory duty to consult assured tenants under the Housing Act 

1988 regarding disposing of properties to another landlord or transferring the 
ownership to a different landlord. However, the guidance from the Social 
Housing Regulator states that it expects RP landlords to consult with its tenants 
before disposing of its ownership of properties to another landlord and the 
actual wording in the guidance states that the Regulator expects “accountability 
to tenants and proper consultation with tenants when considering a disposal 
that would mean a change in the tenant’s landlord or changes that affect 
tenant’s statutory or contractual rights”. This quote is taken from one of the 
bullet points in paragraph 2.1 of the guidance of the Social Housing Regulator 
dated March 2017 and entitled: “Guidance for private registered providers on 
how to notify the regulator about the disposal of social housing dwellings”. The 
new landlord would be under a duty to inform its new tenant(s) of the address 
of the new landlord pursuant to section 3 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985. 

 
13.7 There is a requirement for a Registered Provider of Social Housing to notify the 

Regulator of Social Housing of the relevant disposal(s) of its residential 
properties within three months of the disposal(s) as set out in the direction 
entitled “Regulator of Social Housing – Direction about notifications of disposal 
of social housing dwellings and of land other than a dwelling 2017”. There is no 
requirement on a Registered Provider (including FWH) to obtain the consent of 
the Regulator of Social Housing when disposing of properties, including 
tenanted properties. 

 
13.8 As a landlord, FWH is under a statutory obligation to carry out repair works in 

respect of properties it lets out to its assured tenants. Section 11(1) of the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 states the following must be kept in repair by the 
landlord of a residential property involving a tenancy and this includes the 
structure and exterior of the properties:   
 
“(a) to keep in repair the structure and exterior of the dwelling-house (including 
drains, gutters and external pipes), 
(b) to keep in repair and proper working order the installations in the dwelling-house 
for the supply of water, gas and electricity and for sanitation (including basins, sinks, 
baths and sanitary conveniences, but not other fixtures, fittings and appliances for 
making use of the supply of water, gas or electricity), and 

 (c) to keep in repair and proper working order the installations in the dwelling-house 
for space heating and heating water.” 

  
Furthermore, failure to comply with fire safety regulations can lead to 
enforcement action against FWH by the London Fire Brigade, in particular 
breach of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. 

 
13.9 The Council, as the guarantor of FWH, must be mindful of its fiduciary duties 

towards its tax payers. The Council's fiduciary duties can be briefly summarised 

Page 17



as acting as a trustee of Council tax and public sector income on behalf of its 
rate and tax payers. 

 
13.10 Under the general power of competence pursuant to section 1 of the Localism 

Act 2011, a local authority has power to do anything that individuals may 
generally do,  though there are some restrictions. The power does not permit 
local authorities to do anything that is specifically prohibited in legislation or to 
raise taxes. Section 3 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out further clarification and 
restrictions regarding commercial activities.  

 
13.11 The Council has the power under section 24(1) of the Local Government Act 

1988 to provide any person with financial assistance for the purposes of, or in 
connection with, the acquisition, construction, conversion, rehabilitation, 
improvement, maintenance or management (whether by that person or by 
another) of any property which is or is intended to be privately let as housing 
accommodation, subject to consent being provided by the Secretary of State 
under section 25 of the said Act. As for the scope of such financial assistance, 
this includes (pursuant to section 24(2) of the Local Government Act 1988) as 
follows: 
“(a) make a grant or loan to that person; 
(b) guarantee or join in guaranteeing the performance of any obligation owed 
to or by that person; 
(c) indemnify or join in indemnifying that person in respect of any liabilities, loss 
or damage; or 
(d) if that person is a body corporate, acquire share or loan capital in that 
person.” 
 

13.12 As for consent under section 25 of the Local Government Act 1988, the 
Secretary of State gave a general consent in 2010 entitled:  
“The general consents under section 25 of the Local Government Act 1988 
(Local Authority assistance for privately let housing) 2010” and this includes 
the following:  
“C - A local authority may provide any person with any financial assistance 
(other than the disposal of an interest in land or property):  

 (a) for the purposes of or in connection with the matters mentioned in section 
24(1) of the 1988 Act…”. 

 
13.13 Any proposed option must be consistent with the subsidy control regime under 

the EU-UK Trade & Cooperation Agreement and the proposed replacement 
Subsidy Control Bill. Option 1C involves the Council agreeing to refinance the 
debt at a lower interest rate to that currently charged. This would however be 
at a rate in excess of the Council’s own borrowing rate and be against a 
background of extending the duration of the loan and the transfer of assets to 
the HRA and i4B to ensure that FWH remains a viable entity. Whilst the 
arrangement would have to be appropriately structured, Option 1C is 
considered to be in compliance with the subsidy control regime. 

 
13.14 Section .17 Housing Act 1985 (HA 1985) provides power to acquire land for 

housing purposes, and s.9 HA 1985 sets out the Council’s power to provide 
housing accommodation. Section 9(2) of the Housing Act 1985 also provides 
the Council with power to “alter, enlarge, repair or improve a house so 
…acquired”. Therefore, the Council has power to acquire the land and do the 
repair works, but in exercising that power, the Council must act for proper 
purposes, in good faith, and must exercise the power properly, following proper 

Page 18



procedures in a "Wednesbury reasonable" manner. The Council must act for 
proper motives, taking into account all relevant considerations, ignoring 
irrelevant matters. The Council must not act irrationally, must balance risks 
against potential rewards, and when making decisions, must consider the usual 
fiduciary, best value, crime and disorder reduction, equalities, health and 
wellbeing and other relevant overarching duties, and any explicit requirements 
placed on a power. 
 

13.15 FWH and i4B have obtained their own legal advice regarding the preferred 
option as proposed in this report. 

 
13.16 Members are referred to the content of the exempt appendix 1 to this report. 
 
14.0 Financial Implications 
 
14.1 Financial Implications of each of the options under consideration are set out 

throughout the report. Overall, the recommended option is the best option to 
balance costs between the Council’s General Fund, HRA and housing 
companies and ensure the works are carried out as rapidly as possible, while 
providing minimum disruption to residents. 

 
15.0 Equality Implications 
 
15.1 An equalities impact assessment will be undertaken during the consultation and 

will be considered along the outcomes of the consultation. 
 

16.0 Consultation with Ward Members and Stakeholders 
 
16.1 Ward members are being consulted. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report sign off:   
 
Carolyn Downs 
Chief Executive 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Options Finance Rate Debt Treatment 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 2035/36 2036/37 2037/38 2038/39 2039/40 2040/41 2041/42 2042/43 2043/44 2044/45 2045/46 2046/47 2047/48 2048/49 2049/50 2050/51 Net Cash

% £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

1A Intermediate rented units retained - loan write off 3% £9.1m loan written off 381,000 416,000 451,000 453,000 454,000 11,182,000 184,000 189,000 194,000 195,000 205,000 236,000 265,000 298,000 330,000 361,000 394,000 426,000 460,000 493,000 529,000 562,000 600,000 636,000 673,000 710,000 747,000 788,000 22,812,000

1B Intermediate rented units retained - loan refinanced to 2% 2% no loan write off 258,000 294,000 327,000 330,000 330,000 11,058,000 60,000 66,000 69,000 71,000 80,000 112,000 140,000 173,000 205,000 235,000 268,000 301,000 334,000 368,000 405,000 437,000 475,000 512,000 548,000 585,000 623,000 663,000 19,327,000

1C 2% no loan write off 209,000 236,000 266,000 263,000 260,000 10,012,000 11,000 9,000 7,000 5,000 12,000 35,000 60,000 86,000 113,000 139,000 167,000 195,000 223,000 253,000 283,000 313,000 343,000 375,000 406,000 439,000 472,000 504,000 15,696,000

2A All units transferred - loan write off 3% £11.6m loan written off 412,000 441,000 470,000 468,000 466,000 10,183,000 182,000 181,000 179,000 176,000 183,000 208,000 233,000 260,000 286,000 314,000 340,000 369,000 397,000 426,000 457,000 487,000 517,000 548,000 580,000 614,000 647,000 680,000 20,704,000

2B All units transferred - loan refinanced to 2 % 2% no loan write off 209,000 236,000 266,000 263,000 260,000 10,012,000 11,000 9,000 7,000 5,000 12,000 35,000 60,000 86,000 113,000 139,000 167,000 195,000 223,000 253,000 283,000 313,000 343,000 375,000 406,000 439,000 472,000 504,000 15,696,000

Options 

1 Write off a proportion of the loan to reflect the transfer of assets out of FWH. The original loan remains at 3%. New borrowing is at 2%. 

2 No loan is written off but the whole of the borrowing is refinanced at 2%.

A All assets are transferred to the HRA.

B Only the 84 social housing assets are transferred to the HRA; the 25 intermediate rental units stay with FWH.

C Only the 84 social housing units are transferred to the HRA. The 25 intermediate rental units transfer to i4B.

All options have a pro rata reduction in Housing SLA costs in line with unit transfers. Corporate SLA charges remain the same.

All options have additional borrowing costs of £8,750,000 assumed in 2029/30 to ensure there is a stress test for capital investment not yet planned.

Base capital investment requirements are £2,000 per unit per year.

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Implications for BHM and HRA of proposals for ownership and refurbishment of Granville New Homes blocks
	5a. Appendix 1 - FWH Granville Cabinet Report
	5ai. Appendix to Cabinet Report - Cashflow projections (Appendix A)
	5aii. Appendix to Cabinet report - Appendix B (Exempt)


